ARCHAEOLOGICAL INVESTIGATIONS
AT WESTON UNDERWOOD IN 1994

DAWN ENRIGHT AND JONATHAN PARKHOUSE

A watching brief and semall-scale excavations were underiaken during the initial stages of a new
sewerapee scheme af Weston Underwood, Buckinghamshive, This work represents the first
archaeclogival investigations in the village. Evidence was recovered for a probable prefisioric
cremtation, and for setttement during the Roman, Saxon and Medieval periods. This activity was
recorded in various locations around the castern side of the village, including an area close o
o medioval moated site. A Iigh degree of seitferment comtinuiey over the past two milfeniia s
imptfed by threse resafts, A possible noctens of fate Suaonr gocogaerion (o the wicinioe of the present

chureh s sugeested,

INTRODUCTION

In Januwary 1994, Buckinghamshire County Mu-
seunt Archacological Service was commissioned
by Anglian Water Enginecring and Business Sys-
tems Litd, to undertake investigations during the
early stages of sewage pipelaying in and around the
village of Weston Underwood. The proposed
rowtes of the pipelines fell into two distinet types of
terrain, open pasture felds immediately southeast
ol the village which had not been previously dis-
turheil by excavation, and thoroughtares where ei-
ther existing pipes were being replaced, or pipes
were being laid for the fiest tme (Figure 1), Al-
though monitoring of the entire scheme was under-
taken, archacological deposits were only observed
in the areas of pasture,

TOPOGRAPHY AND GEOLOGY

Weston Underwood is a small village some 2km
wesl of Olney. The village plan is essentially lin-
ear, the majority of the houses being situated along
the High Street, which is orientated NE — S5W,
There are five small lanes (Pevers Lane, Chapel
Lane, and Cross Lane and two un-named thorough-
Fares) leading for short distances from the south-
eastern side of the High Sireet,

The village is on ground which slopes slightly
from the northwest down towards the River Ouse,
some 0.9km 1o the south east. The High Street is
sonie 20 10 25m above the valley botom, which is
just below the 50m contour. The food plain of the
Ouse is generally just under Tkm wide along its
upper reaches. The hydraulic gradient along the
valley 15 low, and there will probably have been
fairly frequent, even repular, Rooding episodes be-
fore modern land drainage was installed,

Weston Underwood s situated on @ narrow
band of Oolitic clays and limestone, dating 1o the
Jurassic, which are exposed for a considerable dis-
tance along the valley side. On the valley sides
there are terrce grovels downslope of the village,
and boulder clay upsiope, The valley bottom is
filled with alluviom with seme admixure of
colluvium, entrenched into the first Terrace Gray-
els; below 1his the deeply buried incised river chan-
nel is filled with quaternary deposits. The
alluvium/ colluvivm has probably masked all but
the most recent archaeological episodes. In con-
trast, the terrace gravels generally give good crop
marks, enabling the evidence for past human activ-
ity Lo be seen from the air under suitable condi-
tions: the Oolitic and boulder clays, on the other
hand, are much less conducive 1o the detection of
sites from the air.
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Fig. 1: Weston Underwood Sewerage: General location plan showing trench layout

In terms of potential for exploitation, the Ouse
WValley presents a reasonable diversity of habitas,
including the flood-prone valley botiom which will
have contained marshlands and/or good quality
pasture, the gravel terraces which would have
given rise 1o well-drained and casily worked soils,
and the heavier clay uplands. The last do not appear
o have been intensively cultivated until the later
prehistoric periods,

The sewernge works [ollowed the southern and
gastern sides of the village “envelope™, with spurs
coming in from the direction of the High Street (Fig
1), Most of the geology encountered consisied of
grey or orange clays with limestone fragments of
various sizes and occasional outcrops of tabular

limestone. These deposits are characteristic of the
Gireat Oolite beds on which the village is situated.
Finer deposits, typically orange-brown silty loams
with clay and sand fractions, presumably
colluvially derived, were present downslope of the
sewitge plant in Field C,

The pasture in the study arca appears to have
been <o for a number of years. Photographs taken
by the RAF in [947 (CPE/UK 1926.1007: BCM
AP Collection, Run 49) show the survival of exten-
sive ridge and furrow (representing medieval ar-
able cultivation) around Weston  Underwoaod,
particularly in the vieinity of the moat, although
there appears to have been more inlensive arable
cultivation near the southwestern end of the study
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area (Freld A), presumably during the second
world war, The same photographs clearly show the
edue of the alluvium, which is generally co-exten-
sive with the limit of ridge and furrow.

ARCHAEOLOGICAL AND HISTORICAL
BACKGROUND

Mo systematic archacological investigation had
been underaken within the village before the in-
vestigations described in this report. Nevertheless,
a number of archaeological sites were already
known 1o exist in and around the village, as o result
of virious casual discoveries,

The site of a probable prelistore ving diteh, 1o
the south of the village, is visible on nerial photo-
praphs mken in 1974 such sites are Ivpical of the
gravels of the Ouse Valley. The frequency with
which they occur apparently increases larther
downstream, although this may be a reflection of
modern agricultural regimes as there is more pas-
ture (and therefore fewer areas with optimum con-
ditions for cropmark development) upstream,
Numerous ring ditches have heen recorded in the
Ouse Valley by serial photography (Field 1974),
and in 1978 ope was excavated, 2km upstream of
Weston Underwood, at Ravenstone {Allen 1981),

The valley sides are clearly important for early
prehistoric activity, for although much of the evi-
dence is funerury this seems o be becanse settle-
ment remiains are generally  harder 1o detect
archaeologically. In contrast, there is u relative
dearth of material from the clay uplands of North
Buckinghamshire and Bedfordshire.

Romano-British arefacts have been found at o
number of locations around the village: in a garden
in the High Street; in the NW corner of the church-
yard; on the village green; and N'W of the medieval
maoated site, on the course of the pipeling in Field
C. Romano-British material has also been found
south of the village; in one instance the assemblage
included sherds of Iron Age pottery, suggesting an
element of continuity in settlement patiern.

MNothing was known of the nature of settlement
here during the Saxon period, but since Weston
|Underwood] is recorded in Domesday Book

(1086), it is probably sale 10 assume the presence
of a small nucleated settlement with its origins in
the late Saxon period. The manor was forfeited to
the Crown in 1088 following the rebellion of the
Bishop of Coutances, and subsequently split, and
then held by two Fonilies, the Mowers and Pevers,
These two muanors hod been amalgamated before
LS18 (VOH 1927, 4 497-502), In terms ol archaco-
logical maerial from the medieval period, two
finds of tile had been made in the village: o glozed
ridge tile and two Tragments of fourteenth century
encaustic tile, probably Penn tile, There is also a
moated site, n Scheduled Ancient Monument, with
associated carthworks, 1o the south of the village,
which is thought 10 have belonged to the Pevers
family in the early 14th Century. A path leading to
the sile is still called Pevers Lane. The moal, n
roughly oval enclosure measuring 36 x 46m, has an
internal platform some (.7m higher than the sur-
rounding ground level. Connected with the wide,
shallow moat are two fishponds on the downslope
(southeasten) side, Medieval potiery sherds have
been found on the platform of the moar.

There are a number of seventeenth-century
houses in the village, indicating that the 1opogra-
phy of the village had reached s present form by
this date, although the overall layout is likely 1o be
considerably older, Few village morphologies are
entirely static: the opportunity o sample even
narrow strip of land on the edge of the medieval
village by means of the sewage scheme wis there-
fore potentially useful in terms of detecting any
shifts in settlement focus,

METHODOLOGY

Al the outset il appeared that the potential for
earlier occupation within and around the village
was high. During the planning of the pipeling, 1wo
phases of work were proposed:

i) Supervised topsoil stripping accompanied,
where appropriate, by limited exeavalion
where the pipeline went through the greenfield
areas

i) a watching briel where pipe-trenches cut
through the village thoroughfares
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Arrangements were made with Anglian Water
lor wopsoil stipping o be carried oul under ar-
chacological supervision. Two weeks were set
aside for archaeological investigation lollowing
each phase of topsoil removal. All the archacologi-
cal deposits cxposed within the casement areas
during topsoil stripping were then recorded, Those
directly on the line ol the pipe were excavated and,
where sufficient time allowed, deposits in the
easement arei were also excavated to determine
their charncter and date. With the co-operation of
melal detectorists, stripped arens were scanned in
order to recover diggnostic metal artelacts,

The easement was up to 10m wide in the pasture
area, and it was generally relatively straightforward
1o imspect the areas concerned and o distinguish
archacological features. Closer o the viver, how-
ever, alluvialfcolluvial deposits were deeper and
some masking of archaeological deposiis may be
suspected.

Dwiring pipelaying along the thoroughfares the
trenches were close shuttered, ancd opportunities for
detailed mspection of the wench sides were se-
verely limited., o the event no archacological daa
or material were recovered during this phase of the
work.

THE RESULTS

The excavation revealed the presence of a large
number of archaeological features, although their
density varied. They are described below according
to the four main phases (prchistoric, Romana-Brit-
ish, Saxon and Medieval), These are further sub-
divided in relation to the various “areas” where
concentrations of features were noted. (Fig | and
Table 1). Each field was allocated a letter (A to E),
amed individual sections of pipelineg in cach field
were numbered. Arcas are thus referred o in the
textas Cl, D2 ete,

A total of 339 cut features were recorded, OF
these, 160 (47.20%) were excavated, but only 38
(112150 contained daable finds, Datable finds
were recovered from a further 11 features (3,24%),
either by surface collection or with the help of
metal detectors, bringing the wtal number of fea-
tures that could be directly dated to 49 (14.45%). It

is mainly this sumple of datcable features that is
discussed here, An indication of the comparative
density of features along the route can be goined
fronm Table 1.

Prehistoric

A low density of prehistoric flint waste was
recovered, and a very few arefacts (see below),
Muost of the material was of late Neolithic/ Bronee
Age date, but five probable Mesolithic fragments
weere also present. Although there did not appear Lo
be any concentrations, the amount of material re-
covered seems [0 indicate a more than casual pre-
histordc presence in the vicinity. The only
identifinble feature probably of prehistoric date
wis i cremation (Context 109), lying in the field
ad jucent to the stream (Field C). No other features
were associated with il Crematlions are unconimaon
in the archaeological record later than the early
Saxon pericd, when they are almost invariably
found grouped in formal cemeteries. Cremation
was ilso a commaon rite during the earlier Romano-
British period, but then too there was a preference
lor interment in cemeteries, the remains normally
being buried in pottery vessels. This single find,
therefore, is probably prehistoric. The relative fre-
quency of ring-ditches along the gravel terraces of
the Ouse during the seeond millennium be indi-
citles that this position may have been perceived as
being suitable for the deposition of funerary re-
miains.

Remmenrer-British

Roman material wias present in small amounts
along the entire pipeline route. It appeared 1o be
concentrated in two of the areas described below
(C3-and B, with signs of activity also in Area D, as
well as at the other locations in the immediate
environs of the villuge praviously recorded. The
features cannot be securely dated, however, and the
foeal point(s) of any settlement remain elusive,
although they were evidently not in the direct route
of the pipcline.

Aren C3

This was SE of the new sewage works in an area
which sloped downhill to a stream which fed into
the River Quse (Figures | and 2).
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Tams |.
DISTRIBUTION OF FEATURES, BY AREA

AREA A i c c2 c3 i D2 s TOTAL

Features reconded 13 43 " 13 12 S &7 24 L

Features excovaied 9 12 42 1m0 11 25 34 17 16ib

Features with finds 1 § 22 4 8 17 27 k] 102

tincluding Hinshs iopmwmvil from yncucavaiel feomes )

[xatable 2 5 [ 2 3 11 b I k3

excavated leaures

Datable ? 2 I = - | 5 - 11

unexcnvited lentures

Todal datable feptures 4 T T 2 3 12 13 1 4%
Area B

Three features were recorded, culling through
the lower pan of the colluvial deposits at the base
of the hill. Roman sherds were recovered from all
three,

(ras: poasible pit 20m NW ol the stream, Aligned appros NW-
SE, 2m by 0.7m. with heavily undercut sides and irregular
banse, Single (il (099 of e lean browa ¢lay sil, 3 R-8 sherls,
S uncertain sberds. leregular natire of the edges af the
Femture sugpests that io was poessibly o tree hale,

[0 civcular pil 30m NW of the stream. Approx 2w dlam,
Excavaled to o depihy of 0.60m., Fill (1017 of brown/grey
elay silt with secasional Tragmeints. of Bmestong grts, 56
shends (see fig B, oos -3 for daown examplesy; 21 R-B
including 3 Mene Valley colour coated ware; 2 Samian
sherds, one from Central Gaullish stamped cup: 35 sherds
uncertuin dote, small guantity of sheep bone frags, plass
vessel handle (SF 1028; Fig 1] oo 6), ron nuil (SF 10245,
The quantity of material would sugpgest dar least in part) o
deliberate dump of domestic rubbash,

[T 2cweular pit 4 NW of the stream, spproa 2m dinm.
Excavuted to depth of 018m. Gently sloping sides and
rounded base. Single fill (103) of brown elay silt with
oceusiontl  limestone  frapments, contiining 5 Romon
sherds, including two basal sherds of centrnl Gaulish
Samiinn (g 8 nos 7and 81 of the mid wo/late Antonise period
{ 1600 1o 200400, and coin <204 AD.

Although this site appears to be of restricled
extent, the finds suggest that the pits, whatever
their primary function, were eventually used for the
disposal of domestic rubbish from a nearby setile-
ment,

The second aren of Roman activity was in Field
B (Figures 1 and 2), slightly north of a small scatier
of Roman potiery and tile fragments discovered on
the surface in 1968, Six features contained
Romano-British anelacts, One pit{ 194 and o gully
(041) contained  exclusively Roman  material,
whilst the remainder of the features contained a
mixture of Roman, Saxon and medievial potiery,

Pdbireetomgulor pit 1,15 = LOm, Sangle GIF 1955 1 BB rim
sherd
Od bzgully L35m wide, Single Gl (04232 R-B shends.

Four other features, (178, 035, 142 and 022)
contained Romano-British material, along with
other mauterial which was either cenainly later (178
and 022, or of uncertain, but possibly Romano-
British, date (035 and 022). The Romano-British
finds are perbaps most safely interpreted 0% re-
sidual, although the presence of a broach (g 11 no
3y and a coin of Vespasian in 022 is worth noting,

178: irrepular. penr-shoped cur, Fill 179, red brown clay sift
with fimestone fragments and grits. Some limestone frog-
ments showed evidence of buming; concentration of chiar-
coal noted towards bpse of fill, Burning slso noded around
edgeoficut, | R-Bsherd, | med., fragments of brick and tile,
I Fragment of animal bone. Interpreted as possible hoarth,

35:circular pit with two fills. Basal 611 (325) light groy brown
cliy silt with limestone fragmenis; no fimds, Upper fill
(036) comained | B-B rim sherd, 6 unidentifialile slepds,
fragments of animal bone,
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Fig. 2: Areas of Romane-British activity within trenches B and €3
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142iprobable series of imercutting pits, mosily obscored by
norih bawlk, Fill {143 beonained 2 Romano-British sherds,
4 sherds of ubcensain date, 2 fragments aninul bose.

1R 250 below (Saxon period 1k contaimed residunl Boman mae-
Tl

The evidence from field B again is slight, bu,
taken in conjunction with the other finds of pottery
and tile nearby noted above, seems to suggest some
lorm of occupation in the viciniy.

Areg [3

Layer (321} inarea D comained eight sherds of
Romano-British pottery and a quemnstone, possibly
reused in a hearth. In view of its apparent associa-
tion with medieval features the dating of layer 321
is uncertain, and it is described in the medieval
section below,

Senvon

The Saxon evidence was in total rather insub-
stantial. Some of the Saxon material was recovered
from unstratified contexts during the initial stages
of stripping. No firm evidence for a settlement
focus can be identified (it may well have been
beneath the medieval village) and an interpretation
for the function of the individual features is prob-
lematic. The only possible Saxon building, the ar-
rangement of postholes in area Cl, lacks any
satisfuctory dating evidence. The presence of fea-
res containing pottery af early 1o mid Saxon ma-
terial is of some significance, as relatively few
settlements of this period are known from Buck-
inghamshire.

There was a small concentration of unstratified
material, including sherds of inturned bawls in St
Neots ware diagnostic of the late Saxon period,
from near te boundary between fields A and B.
This area is not far from the church, and may
indicate some form of pre-conquest settlement fo-
cus here, Whilst the existence of numerous late
Saxon settlements is demonstrated by the Domes-
day survey, archacological evidence for the major-
ity of these is absent. Early and middle Saxon
seftlements are even more scarce. Perhaps the most
imporiant feature of the Weston Underwood evi-
dence is an apparent continuity of settlement which
secms (o be implied by the data.

Field B

Saxon material was recovered from one of the

areas of Roman activity, described above (see Fig-
ure 3), Two pits were recorded, 028 and the adja-
cent 022, which contained Saxon pottery, although
the two features were nol contemporary, One of
these (O22) nlso contained several sherds of
Romano-British pottery and other Romano-British
material,

P28 ol plt, 4 5m by 1.5m. with gradually siopimg sides and
slightly concave base. Fill 0249, mid grey clay sill with
decayed limesione ragmens and lregquent chareail fmg-
menis, 12 fragmems animal bone, | fragment daub, 2
fragments (R-H70 brick. | fagment burmi limesione, | i
Made fragmen, 2 lavi quemstone fragmenis (SF 1039), 38
sherds (maostly Lie) Saxon potlery, including cimis of 51
Ments (ype ware ([ig 9 nox [=5),

D2Z:oval pat, 4m by 3m, with steep sides sloping 1o Mt base at
a depth of ASm. Single (111 ({023 compact orange brown
clay lowm with frequent limestone fragmems, 3 R-13 sherds
ifig 8 s A-6], including somian dish rim (Crag. (831,
Amonine), 4 ci by i Sawon sbieres, 23 shevils arceriain
date, | struck (Tin1 fiake, 39 fragments animal bose, | ©-B
bromze brooeh (SF 1029: fig 11 no 33, | coin of Vespision
{SF 10200, Whilse this feaume clearly appeass 10 bove been
open during the Suxon period, there is inuch sesidual
muviennl,

Field C

The Nield directly west of the sewage works
comntained one pit and one posthole with Saxon
artefacts (Figure 3). 1t is possible that a group of
postholes adjacent o o medieval ditch (0804133,
described below) may also be of Saxon date, al-
though they did not produce any datable material.

31 Zposthole, Fill (313 with | wifly ur fid Saxon sherd,

3583060, 362, 364, 366, 368 and 370 circular postholes, diam
020 to 0, Wen, recorded aloig western edge of ditch (60
F33 (higure 3} Five (358 — 366) were in o strmight line,
pearal bel with and immediely outside the ditch edge, whilst
two (368 and 370) were slighily offset and cut through one
of the fills (057) of ditch 133, Postholes 158, 368 and 370
were excavated; 0.20m deep with mid brown clay loam Gl
Mo anelauts recovered,

352, 354, 356 postholes, af righe anghes o the northermmest of
the seven (3383700 described above, with similar dimen-
sions and fills, None was excavated (s outside the pipe
cenireline)

1T 368 and 370, the postholes that cut the diich,
were contemporary with the rest of the group, as
they seemed to be. the line of postholes 358--370
therefore appears to postdate the ditch. It is possi-
ble that all ten postholes together form the corner of
an enclosure or structure, Two other features may
possibly be associated with the postholes, although
their relationship 1s not clear;
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Fig. 3: a) Area of Saxon activity within trench B, by Area of Saxon activity within irench C1

392 linear feature, within the angle formed by postholes 352~
370 mnd extending beyond the stripped arca, >1.30m long,
[ ilhn wide. Mot excavated, as not within pipe cemreline,

314 ovenfhearth, cutting linear feainre 392, Sob-clreular, .66m
= A0 dhm, (L2 Em deep, slightly conves gides and fla bage,
Single Gl (315 of lurge diub and buarot Hmesione frag-
meitts i charcoalfssh matriz, | lragment burml aninal
hone,

The dating and interpretation of these features is
difficult, It is suggested below that ditch 080/133 is
medieval, but the evidence is largely circumstan-
tial. Even il the medieval date for 080/133 is cor-
recl, the only postholes that are directly related to it

stratigraphically are the two offset posi-holes 368
und 370, which may not belong with the rest of the
group. If the dating problems are disregarded, the
muost likely explanation for a rectilinear arrange-
ment of closely-spaced posts is that it is the corner
of a post-built Saxon building.

Within the field NW of the sewape works and
south of Chapel Lane, the topsoil was stripped
from three “spurs™ which joined in the southern
comer of Field D (see figure 1),
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Area DI, adjacent to Chapel Lane, contained a
pit and a linear feature containing Saxon material
(figure 4),

Atk Par, with grduslly sloping sides and rounded base, e on
its northermn side by two postholes (442 and 501), Only
partly within maching-stiripped area, Stnghe Tl {44 1), dark
prev/brown clay silt with limesione pritg amd eharcoal
flecks, 11 fragments animal bone, | early or mid Saxon
sherd,

426: Lincar feamre 6m o south of par 440, Sloping sides and
irregular hase, Single fill (461) dark grey silty clay with
stone fragments. 3 lote Saxon S5t Neots sherds, 2 unidenti-
finble sherds, | (ragment of animal bone. Fill is thought 1o
represent graodual silting after feature had gone oot of ose.

442, 504 ¢ postholes cutting pit 440, No coliural material recov-
ered, bt {ills were vory similar to pit {ill 441 in the nature

of their soil matrix and nateral inclusions, suggesting per-
hips & broadly contemporary date for when they went out
of use. although stratigruphically they are clearly Inter thin
Pk 440,

The purpose ol this group of fealures is uncer-
Lain,

Area D2

Arca D2, a pipeline spur which ran from the
small (un-named) lane south of Grange Farm, con-
tained two postholes (535 and 557) and an adjacent
spread of material (layer 606) which contained
Saxon artefacts, although the dating of this group
of features is not secure (fig 4).
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BlE:Iyer of dark prey briws eliy il awith concentiied
peitchies of barnt material, [8m by L3mg 00085m deep,
Layer partinlly excivated in order W saniple fwe ireas of
irming. % early or mid Saxon sherds, | small {intrusve? )
mied sherd, Trygmvenis of bermt stone, | small (intose?)
brick frogment, 3 (rogments animal bome: As no i S
brming wirs neted, i s assumed thid G0 represented a
deposit of barnt mitenial sather than o hcarth,

535 pasthole, not excavated. Surface finds: | Sanon sherd, 2
mied sherds.

537 pethiole, approsimately rectangolar, 0.28m by 0.20m,
with gradually sloping sides and comcave base at depth of
T, Singhe (1) (558 daek grey siliy cluy, | early (o mid
Saxnon sherd,

Mediinvend

Mot surprisingly, the evidence for medieval ac-
tivity Tar outweighed that for the Saxon and Ro-
man periods. Most of the deposits encountered
contyined medieval pottery, and the area around
the village appears o have been extensively used
in the medieval period.

Three main areas of medieval occupation were
identilfied: areas C1, D] and D2 . In the case of the
first of these (C1), however, the dating evidence is
very slender.

Area Cl

Ditches representing two sides of o possible
enclosure were identified. Sections were cul
through both by machine.

1Z58ditch, ovientated approximalely ME - 5W with gradually
sloping concuve sides wnd concive buse, (85m deep, Two
fills (Frgare 510 basal Gl (068) of yellowish rown silty
clay with limesione Mragments and charcoal fecks, | un-
dated sherd; upper Gl (067) of groyish brown silty clay
with oecasional small limestone frugments, | (Pmed)
sherd, | piece iron slag, 2 animl bone.

a3 ditch, recut of diteh 125, 2.60m wide, 0.9%5m deep, straighi
slopimg sides and concave base. Single fill (064), dark
greyish brown silty cloy with large quantity stodie frag-
ments, and occusionnl chiarcoul Mecks. | > med shend, | x
post-med sherd fntmsive), 2 % unidentifiable shevds, 2
small fragments of animal bone. The farge quantity of stone
mwy supgest o deliberate backfilling of the ditch once it had
pone ot of use,

iEiedinch, 1w exst of ditch 125063 md @ nght angles 1o,
2.50m wide, |05m deep, with straight sides and {1nl base,
Three fills (Tigure 5); basal Gl (ORG) of dark grey clay sili
with limestone, 3 unidentifiable sherds, 2 fragmems ani-
mal bone; secondary fill B8R (in easiern part of ditchy of
preyish brown cluyey silt, 8 Tragments bone (sheepd, 3 (lint
fragments, | unidenifiable sherd; Gl 087 (in western par
of ditch) alzo o grevith brown clayey silu, 2 fragments bone
{sheepl. Fills 08K and 087 probably represent sume fill,

trncated by o pertinl recutting (reout 138 of G0,

LV recun of dieh 88, 1 0m wide, (1, 70m deep, stroightsloping
aides Torming V-shiaped prafile. Single Gl (081) of line-
stowme rubbie < S0m digm in yellowish Brivwn clipey, sili.

Ditch O8O0 (and its recut 133) possibly functioned
s 4 deainage ditch. I appears (o have been associ-
aved with slight traces of a bank or headland which
lies on the west side of the ditch and appears 1o run
ESE downhill 1o the fishponds. The only dating
evidence for O80/133 15 circumstantial, consisting
of a single medieval sherd from ditch 125, which
appears 1o be the return of ditch 0R0/133.

Postholes 352 — 370, and the difficulties in dat-
ing them, are discussed above in the Saxon section,
along with the possibly related features 392 and
314, The position of the postholes uppears to re-
spect the edge of ditch 0804133, whilst two of the
postholes, 368 and 370, cut the dich, The possibil-
ity of a Saxon date for ditch 080/133 should not be
ruled oul.

Other Testuwres in Area ClL Incaddition o the featunes
desenibed above, some eight pits and Gy postholes were
contained within the apparent epclosure formed by
ditches 125063 and 1330080, Asso small an area was
examined, little datable matenial was recovered, No other
recognizable or coherent structires or fencelines could be
identificd, A single posthole (3125 111 313 produced o
sherd of possible Saxon potiery, Posthole 074 (fill 075)
proxduced an undated bone pin. Activity within this area
appears o have been intense, bul its nature and date are
difficult o determine,

Field

The second concentration of medieval activity
lay in Field D, north of the sewage works, where
three spurs of land (areas D1, D2 and D3} were
stripped (Figure 1). Earthworks noted in this field
{Figure 6), consisted of four possible building plat-
forms and traces of a hollow-way, which appears o
be a continuation of Chapel Lana, The building
platforms were difficult to distinguish but were ap-
proximately 8m across. The line of the pipe cut
through two of them.

Area D]

Area DI lay parallel with the hollow-way and
then continued bencath the Field gateway and along
the length of Chapel Lane until it intersected the
High Street, Chapel Lane derives its naume from a
former nonconformist chapel (see appendix). What
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are presumed to be the remains of the chapel, ac-
cording 1o local information, now form a garden
wall which butts onto Field DL Spur D terminated
(L5m short of the chapel remains. Owing 1o the
greater depth of wpsoil and the presence of a sub-
soil in this area, the easement was not siripped
down Further than the top of the subsoil, whilst only

the centre line was stripped to the top of the ar-
chacological deposits. A number of archacological
features were noted and excavaied, from which
medieval and post-medieval material was recov-
ered. The features are described in order, from
northwesl 1o southeast,
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SOk posthoke, ut wrhern end of spur, circuli 0.0 diam,
(103 deep, Single G (4017 of yellowish brown silty clay
with oceasianal limestome fragmenis. 2 « ot -y hie s,

South of posthole 400 were three intercutiing
pits: 409, 407 and 412, It ix possible that these
features, with their mixture of medieval and posi-
medieval linds (some as late as the nineteenth cen-
tury) may have been associaed with the former
chapel, just to the north of these features.

A09:pit, upproximutely circalae 174m0 dom, 072 deep,
straight shoping sides and lan base, Twe Gl basal G
EAL0Y of dark yellowish grey iy chiy with Treguent birge
subangular limespone fragments. 4 med (O 120 shends, 3
shetrds uncertpin date (be large smounis of sione iy
suggest o deliberse backilling of the pitk: apper G (41 1)
of durk prey silty ¢lay with lmestone prits and occoasional
charcoul flecks, § med sherds, 81 umsdagable (Tpossibly
mveddy sherids shelly labrie, 80 fragments animal hooe, | (int
wastes ke Cu o soueh side by pie 00T and on dorth side
by pir 412,

ATepin, smb-cirentar, o0.90m dinm, (10 deep. strmght sides
and Tl bie, Single G (A0 of grevish brown clapey sili
with occaxional limestone grits, | = med sherd, 5 = posi
med sherds, iron knife (Special Find No. 10601, Cul south-
ermn side of pan 404,

41 2zpin, approx circolar, 0060 diam. Mol fully excavted. Fill
414, 2 x unidentifiable sherds shelly fabric, Car the north-
orn side of pit 4009,

A0 shallow cut (*pit or pully weeminall, extending for 0.80m
from the eastern boulk, 0.50m wide, 0.03m deep, oblang
with semi-circular ierminal 1o west, concave profile, Two
fills: bower (4057 of light brownish vellow silly ¢lay, no
Fincls; wpper {406) of yellowish brown silty clay with
secusiongl lirge limestone frapments and chareoal ecks,
25 med sherds (including Potterspury wares ),

415 limear féwture, 2.5m Mom pit complex 400/ 407/ 412, arien-
tated NE — 5W, 5.5m wide, excavared (by machine) 1o
(050w depth, siraight sides sloping a6 107 for 1.25m, then
S 1o concave bivse, Single Gl (416) of dork greyish brown
silty samcl ‘with lerpe Rimestone fragments and oceasional
charcowl Recks, 2 med sherds: Presence of large smaounis of
stodwe may sogpest deliberate backMling. Possibly some
form of deainage channel? Cun by feamne 417,

A1 Tiem (77 sonkawwy ), npprox cireulin, |L5m diam, concive
sides, Mot fully excavared, depth unkoown. Fill (418) of
dlrk greyish brown clay il with fregquent hirge Hmesione
fragments, occasional flecks charcoal, 3 med sherds (ine, 2
Ponerspury),

Atk possible gally werminal, 10 somh of 417 wnd extending
beyond NE baalk. not excavated, visthle extent 1 10m long
by Ern widde. Fill (4207 of dark preyish brown silly clpy with
burge frequent limestone fragments and occeasional eharcoal
flecks. Appeared to run parallel with possible drinage
ditch 4§35,

455, 426, 427, 429: posholes, in rectangulor amoy - &m from
pully ferminal 419, next to SW baulk, Circwlar, diam 0.20m
to (L4Om. Not excivated. Fills appesred 1o be similar.
Possibly partofa lavger group of features exiending beyond
thie sty prea, | x med sherd (Potterspary) from o posed

panrfince 01 453, 427 and 4 2% cut NW edge of luyer 425 (vee
below).

425 luver, mid greyish brown clayey silt with small limestone
frogments, extending for ¢ 3m along pipe tench, Mo
excavited: 3% mud sherds (ine C 14 fim) necovered from
surfmce.

A3 pit. o soath of layer 425, swh-circular, D by 0.8%m, 0,44
e, comeivie sides and () buse. T Fls lower (il (4305
ol yellowish boown sundy il with frequent limestone
frigrnents, no (mds, upper [l (4345 of mid yellowish
brovwn saindy sl with oceasional Funestone and fling frag
mens wd chiarconl Necks, & s med lerds (ine Brill), 20
undatable shenls tine shelly fabricsy, | = animal bone, |
iron “whitlhe and tang™ knife {Special Find Mo, 1031;
medieval), -

407 Ninear fearare {fdmin), orentiled E-W. Original dimen-
sions unknown, ux raneated during moching strppng
Twa Fills: basal AL CEA98) of limestone Blocks, { avie, 0, W
by 0.4 upgper 1L (499) of mid yellowish brown sandy
silt with ocvasional limestone fragments, 4 med sherds.

A2 layers henvily buenr hovizon on remnens of possible build-
ing plutforny, o el surfiee of Hmesione amd ¢loy, K-
Chrernstone (SF 1037 fram slight depression within liyer
A2E showed evidence of buming, -segpesting re-use ay
hearthsrone Also B R-B sherds. Alhougl the anefacts from
s Dy could B resichual, fae identification of the slight
mowrd on which 321 wos sinated as being medioval most
be viewed with grean caution,

HT:ayer of lmestone cobbles in o brown silty clay boam.
Cwerlny part of layer 320, | = (7 med shenl.

As so small an area was clearcd, interpretation is
difficult. The pottery recovered from this ares sug-
gests a medieval date for the complex as a whole,
although the basal burnt layer 321 may have been a
Romano-British deposit,

Two further areas of burning (533 and 534)
were associated with an area of intercutling pits
and postholes (523, 525, 527, 529 and 531).

S23:pit, oval, 1.3 by (.50, 0.60m deep, sharp sloping sides
and concive base. Fill (524) of dark greyish brown siliy
cluy with large limestone fragments. No finds. Cat by
pastholes 537 and 529 and pit 515,

S27rposthiole, circular, (L1 5m dinm, 0.25m deep, straight sides
sloping 1o conclive base. Fill {528} of dark greyish brown
silly elay with oceasional limestone grits. & undatalile
sherds (shelly ware),

2% posthole, circlar, (L1 5m diam, 0.35m deep, straight sides
and concave base. Fill (530) of dark grevish brown silty
clay with occasional limestone grits. and charcoul frag-
memts, 2 undatabie shords | 5 picces animal bone,

325:pit, oval, 08w by 0, 7w, (L4dm deep, sharpsloping sidesand
Mat base. Fill (5260 of light omnge brown sandy sill with
oecasional limnestone grits. Mo finds. Cut by pit 531

S31epit, civcular, 0, diam, not excavated, Fill (532) of dark
greyish brown silty cloy with limestone grits. Partially
owverfaim by burmt loyer 533,

F35burm layer. similar 1o 321 (sbhove), Mot excavated,
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Fig. 7: Area of medieval activity within trenches D1 and D2

Area D2 extended diagonally across the field
from the small {(unnamed) lane south of Grange
Farm (figure 1) There were a number of archaeo-
logical features that were recorded and excavated
ot the northern end of the spur, and from which
medieval material was recovered,

The features are described in order, from NNW
lo SSE.

S9L:pit, eiventar, 0.70m diam, 0.2 Loy deep, penrsvertical sides
and concave base, Fill (6000 of grey brown elay gilt with
limreestone Tragments aod grits, | med sherd (Potempury ),
2 undntable sherds, 1 frag burnt animal bone,

B0 i, corenlar, diam (LR Tm, 0.20m deep: gradually slopimng
sides and concave base, Fill 602 of dark grey silt with
limestone grits, 2% med sherds, 5 ondatuble sherds, 2 fraps
gl hone,

The function of both pits is uncertain. There
were o number of other features in the vicinity of
pits 399 and 601 which could not be dated, al-
though it is likely that at least some of them were
medieval. To the SE was 0 series of intercutling
gullies. Those which were orientated NE — 5W
(624, 622 and their precursor 624) were cut by one
of the gullies (615) orientited at 20{NW — SE);
another pully, 603, was parallel with 615 but did
not intersect with the other gullies within the limits
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of the trench. The function of all the pullies is
uncertain, but on the basis of their profiles they are
more likely to have been for drainage than to have
served any structural purpose.

GOy, 0.50m wide, 0, 1 Lo deep, graduntly sloping sides wd
concave bane. Fill (604) of dark greysh brown clay il with
very eocasional limesione fragmenis and griis, | undasble
sherd.

il Srgeuilly, 0.7 6 wicke, 10220 deep, pradually sloping sides and
concave base, Fill (626 of dark brown sandy cluy with
frequent limestone fragments. 2 med shends, 7 undatable
sherds, |:x brick frog. Cot gullies 620 and 622,

20k gully, (.7 0m wide, 0.20m deep, pradually sloping sides and
concave e, Fill (621) of o mid brown samdy clay with
occastonal limestone fragments, | undatable sherd, | frag
of animnl bone, | copper alloy buckle plae (SF 1007,

622:gully, B.60m wide, L. 20m decp, grvdually sloping sides and
concove base, Fill (6237 of mid brown sandy clay with
oceasional limestone fragments (similar to Gl of poraliel
gully 620), | x med sherd, 12 undatable sherd, | frog bt
atong, 2 animal bone I'r.l.],ﬁr..

624 pully, width unknown (as edges cut by other features),
{3 36m deep, Fill (625) of prange hrown mndycluyq:liiﬁcull
to differentinge from Tills of the two gullies which cut i), |
med sherd, 2 I'mg,-i animal bone. Cut by gullies 620 and 622,

607 pit, subrectnngular, 1.5 3m, 087 deep, near-vertical sides
and at base. Fill (608) of mid brown sandy clay with
occasional limestone frngments and lenses of orange brown
Cluy, 13 amed sherds (C 11712, 23 undated {?possibly med)
sherds in shelly fobric, Some contamination is possible. Cur
by gully 622 on KW side and by pit 609 on SW side,

GO pin, circular, dinm 0.90m, deprh 0.30m, near-vertical sides
aod Mot base, Fill (GE0) of mid-brown samdy clay with
oecasional limestone fragments, | med sherd, 2 undatable
sherds,

THE FINDS
by Nicola 1.1 Smisch

The Porrery

A total of 864 sherds (nearly 9 kg was recove
ered and examined macroscopically, a vanety of
different Fabrics rom different periods being iden-
tified. A selection of these have been Hlustrated
{(Figures 8-10), From diagnostic characteristics, 1o-
gether with a general fabric analysis, several spe-
cific forms and classes of vessel were identified,
and 367 pieces (4248% of all sherds collected)
were subsequently found to be datable. The major-
ity of the remaining 497 sherds (3.607 kg) were
bodysherds of a coarse, shelly fabric possessing no
diagnostic features. Shelly fabrics are known to
have been in use al several different periods in the
local arci.

Prehistoric

Two recognizable Iron Age sherds (0.030 kg)
were recovered, one a shell-tempered rim, and the
other a base fragment of the same fabric-type.

Romano-British

Sizty-five sherds (0,854 kg) were identified as
Romano-British, 7.52% of the entire assemblage.
Three colourceat sherds were noted, including a
large, white Oxfordshire mortarium rim, two Mene

Y .| 7

/ <

/ o

=

7
Fiz. 8: Romano-British pottery, scale 14

- -7
N Se=

5
g

1
>

|89



4 ,
y S =

Fig. 9 Saxon poltery, scale 1:4

valley vessel fragments, and three folded beaker
sherds with a hard, sandy reduced fabric. Several
prey. sandy pie-dish rims were present, together
with & number of coarse, shell-tempered storage
jars and alse fincr shelly wares, representing an
assoriment of vessels. A proportion of the unidenti-
fied shelly sherds noted above are also likely to be

Romano-British in date.

Six pieces of samian were recovered, including
a stamp, not previously recorded, which was iden-
tificd by Brenda Dickinson (School of Classics,
Liniversity of Leeds); the stamp VOVL?M appears
on form 733, Buceala of Central Gaul, Die 4a.
Buceala's fabries suggest that he worked at both
Les Martres-de-Veyre and Lezoux, though no
stamps are attested from either factory. Other dies
were used to stamp forms 18/31R, 27 and 80, im-
plying that the potier’s life began in the Hadrianic
or early Antonine period and continued (o AD 160
or later. This piece 15 almost certainly Anlonine
(Fig &, no 3).

dlustrated sherds (Fig 8)

1. Bowlrim, shell tempered fabrc, context 100 (Gl of
pit 1000, Avea C3

2. Beaker rim, grey ware, context 101

3. Samian stamp, Central Gaul, VOVLIM (sce
above), Antonine, context 101

A4, Mortariom rim, white colour-costed Oxfordshire
ware, context 023 (fill of "Saxon pit 022, Field B
residual)

Lid-seated jar rim, shelly fabric, context (23

6. Samian fm, form 1831, second hall C2, conlext
023

7. Samian dish base, form 31R, first half C2, Comtexi
103 (fill of pit 102}, Area C3

B, Saminn dish base, form 31R, first hall C2, Context
103

> TR -

Saxon

Approximately 8% ol the pottery (sixty-nine
sherds, 0.630 kg) could be attributed 1o the Suxon
pericd. Three red-gritted sherds, similar to sherds
identified as early Saxon elsewhere in Bucking-
hamshire, (for example st Walton, Aylesbury)
were noted, together with twenty-three early o mid
Saxon hand-made, in sandy fabrics, including a
number of rims and bases, No typically mid-Saxon
Maxey ware was recognised, but at least lorty-
three sherds were of the St.Neot's type, witha tenth
o eleventh-century date. An unsiratified concen-
tration of StNeot’s ware was noted near the bound-
ary between fields A and B, and thirty-cight sherds
(Figure 9, 1-5) were recovered from pit 028 in
Field B. Many of the presently undatable,
undiagnostic shelly sherds recovered could be
Saxon in date, of the mid Saxon Maxey type, or the
later St, Neot's type.

Hlustraied sheeds (Fig )

1-5 Rimsherds in 5t Neot's type ware, Context 029 (fill
of pit 028, Ficld B.

Medieval

The medieval pottery, (211 sherds, 3.363 kg),
represented fabrics from a nomber of different
kilns. Sisteen sherds of Olney Hyde ware were
present, including rims and jug handles, and at least
nine fragments of Potlerspury ware. A number of
twelfth to thirteenth-century grey, sandy cooking-
pot lragments were present, many fourteenth-cen-
tury rims and bases (including al least twenty
sherds of Brill fabric), and a bowl rim of the late
fifteenth or early sixteenth-century. Nearly a hun-
dred miscellaneous shell-tempered rims, bases and
handles, with associaled bodysherds, logether with
several oxidized wares were also noted. In all,
24.42% of the entire potiery assemblage was rec-
opgnized a5 medieval; numerous sherds at present
unclassified are also likely to belong 1o the same
period.
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Fig. 10 Medieval pottery. scale |:4

llustrated sherds (Fig 10)

. Lid-seated jar nm, shelly fabric. Context 608 (fill of
pit 607) Area D2.

2. Jug hoodle, Pouerspury ware, Context 406 (upper
lill oof pitfgully 4043, Area 31

X Jug, Olney Hyde ware, Contex) 608

4.  Cooking pot rim, sapd-tempered fabric. Contex
410 (lower Gl of pit 409), Arca V]

3. Lid-seated jar rim, shelly fabric, Context G08

6. Cooking pot vim, sand-tempered fabric, Context
425 (lnyer), Avea DI

7. Rim, shelly fabric, Context 608

B, Rim, shelly fabric. Coniex) 608

Post- ieval

Surprisingly only twenly posi-medieval sherds
(0495 ke) were collected in total, representing
2.32% of the whole potlery assemblage. This may
be due to different refuse disposal pracrices in the
post-medieval periodd.
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Other Finds

Approximately five kg of animal bone, includ-
ing horse, sheep and deer. were recovered. Al-
though the bone has not been analysed in detail,
many pieces showed butchery marks and several
were also bumt, NMumeraus picces of barmt lime-
stone and some smithing slag were recovered, all
from mixed-date deposits. Two pieces of wall plas-
ter and thirty-seven fragments of danb also came
from undatable contexts. Most of the remaining
artefacts were datable, either by inirinsic characier-
istics or clse from their spatisl association with
other datable finds, These have been grouped o-
gether by period and are described in detail below,

Prehistoric

Sixty-four flint Makes (four of which were also
burnt} were retrieved including a core preparation
Make, a retouched Neolithic Makefscraper, and Two
Bronge Age serapers. Four Mesolithic blades were
also identified (three snapped) and a Mesolithic
blade core fragment. This small flint assemblage



Fig. 11: Romano-British finds, scale 133 {item 1) 23 (ilems 2-4)

sugpests more than o casual prehistoric presence in
the area.

Ilnstrated

Irom object, [0lmm = [omm = dmm (max) Badly
corroded iron bar, lapering 1o a blunt point, lunclion
uncartain. Found in close sssociation with quern 5F
1037 (described below), but evidently meot a gquern
fitting. Context 321, possibly medieval layer con-
taiming Romane-British pottery and i site bearth-
lining. Field [, (SF 10009, Fig 11,1,

Brooch 35mm = 25mm. Incomplete copper-alloy brooch
with T-shaped, decorsted twhulsr wings (wide bow
virrfation ), The wings {only one remains), are cast in
cylindrical form and perforated lengthwise to take
the axis bar from end to end. Only 12mm of the pin
remains, detabls of it attachment 1o the axis bar and
the spring mechanism being obiscured by mineral-
ised soil deposits, 1L has the comma-shaped profile
of a dolphin-brooch, with a thick, rounded head. A
central rdge runs over the crest and down the bow,
the tail-end of which (together with the catchplate)
is missing. Found in topsoil of Field B by metal
detector. (SF 1022) Fig 11, 2,

Brooch 30mm 2 lmm. Incomplete copper alloy brooch

with an open-cnd cylinder, wing amangement. Here
the wings have full backward faps at top awd bot-
tomm. The spring, now missing, would have been
placed berween them and held in position by bend-
ing the Maps wgether around i1, n central slot being
leelt T the pan itself (also missing), and the ends e
open. The complete profile of the brooch remains,
together with the catchplate, The bow s relatively
flat and splayed slightly at either end (particularly at
the top), and the back s decorated with several
longitudinal ridges, This cominental brooch form
came o Britain on Langton Down and Rosette-type
brooches before the Invasion, and lasted for n eou-
ple of decades or so therealler (Hattat 1985), Con-
fext 023 (Rl of PSaxon pit 022, residual), Field B,
(5F 1029} Fig 11, 3

Vessel Glass 57.5mm ® 1lmm (max.) Curved, “ear-
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shaped”, D-sectioned cup handle of a very streaky,
olive-green glass, The bottom end is (hickened and
spluyed at the lower sticking point; the upper stick-
ing poin is now missing, but was probably folded
ewer, It was [ound in assoctation with Romana-
British pottery sherds, Including Central Gaulish
samian wares and Nene Valley colourcoal [ypes.
The handle very likely belongs o the fourth century



flusk, again with a globular body, but with a base-
ring, (op cit, 218-219,VILnos 450 and 270 fig 27)
which are the most likely candidates for the Weston
Underwood handle's form. The Lankhills examples
were retrieved from graves dating from ADIT0-
410 and AD3I40-390 respectively). Context (0]
(0Ll of e L0y, Feld C, (SF 1028) Fig 11,4,

Quernstone Sandstone (?Sarsen). Diameter 0.4%9m. The
hopper is 90mm in diameter. Near the ouler edge is
# handle socket which has been bored through to the
grinding surface; there are traces of three aborted
allempis 10 bore handle sockets on the opposile
edge. The grinding surface exhibirs the usual pro-
file, although its angle is shallower than that of
many Romano-British stones. The chief interest of
this piece is the arrangement of the rynd chases, of
which there are three, Two of these, both narrow,
\ are situmted about 65 apart along the inner edee of
| . ye | the hopper, but aligned at 90¢ 1o each other; the third
is wider and deeper and situated approximalely
| opposite a point midway between the two smaller
4 sockets, The arrangement implies that the eynd 11-
sell wus of o most unusual “Y" form, Other
1 striations around the lower edpe of the hopper sug-
gest ellony, evidenly abandoned, o locate rynd
chases elsewhere slong the hopper circumference.
An iron object (SF 1000 above) was found within
the hopper, but does not appear (o have been an
original fitting. There are traces of wear, panicu-
larly around the outer skin. There is evidence of
hurming on the grinding surface, apparently owing
o iis re-use as a hearthstone. The quern was found
in association with several fragments of sandstone
hearth-lining (SF 1031}, noted bolow, and sherds of
Romano-British pottery. Context 321, Field D, (5F

1037) Fig 12, 1.

Quernstone 0.38m  diameter; 50-TOmm  thickness,
Lower stome, complete, but broken into three
pieces_ in a very coarse, shelly sandsione; the fnner,
wonn surface shows clear evidence of burning, The
central, circular perforation is S0mim in dinmeter;
the grinding surface has the usual profile, being
slightly higher at the centre, but as with §F 1037
above, the angle of the prinding surface is shallow,

Fig. 12: Romano-British quemstones, scale 1:12 The guernstone sell s not datable and was not
foumd in association with any other stratificd,
AD, and a similar example, recovered [rom a datable finds, bul 0 Romano-British date §s quite
Romana-Britnsh  villa site ot Mantles Green, possible. From context 310; apparently re-used as
Amersham, Buckinghamshire during excavations metalling in a former galeway, Field D. (SF 1034)

in 19834, is discussed by Denise Allen Fig 12, 2.

(Allen, 1992, 1656 and Fig.3). Allen discusses )
forms represented at Lankhills Roman cemetery, Not fiusiraied

Winchester — namely a one-handled, globular flask  Coin (Coins recorded in this report were kindly identi-
with concave base (Harden 1979217-218class  hied by George Lamb of Buckinghamshire County Mu-
Vinos 472,551,632, Mg.27) and a two-handled  seum). Wom; 7 Vespasian (AD 6%-79). Context 022, fill
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of o large, oval leature, Field B, (5F 10203,

Cain Denarivs, good condition, Septimius Severus (AD
204, Sce RIC, val A, mo 200, Context L3 (1l of pi
1O2Y, Field C.(5F [004),

Hearth lining Eight flat, scorched fragments of yellow
sincstone (3F 1031), lound in the zame feature
context g a number of Romano-British sherds,
wiere identified as s sow hearth-lining, They Loy
adjacent 1o a similmly scorched quernstone (see
above; SF 1037). Context 321,

Saxon
s

Stirrup Mount 625mm = 2%mm = 2.5mm, Copper
alloy, decorated Saxon stirrop mount with a distine-
tive punched band of rings bordering the externsl
edge of the Mat body, and running immediately
parallél with an incised line decoration. Two circu-
lar perforations, with the remming of iron comoasion
surrpunding each (former rivets), are  situated
Ilmm opart ol the base of the mount; a {lange
projects at 90° from the boltom rear side

The niain bedly plate tapers up into a short circular,
moulded shaft {a debased animal head representa-
tion, with prominent eyes), the apex of which com-
prises o Mat, roughly circular plate within which is a
third perforation, a slightly off-centre fixing hole.
The mount isof the pentagonal long-necked vanety
and only one other exnmple, also from Bucking-
hamshire (Foscet; unpublished), is known (o have
similar punched. circle decoration,

Mo sign ol gilding was noted during conservation,
The rear side displayed clear signs of abrasion and
wear, indicaling that the piece had nol remained
“atatic” dunng wse, Objects of this kind have often
been interpreted in the past as book mounts, bl
David Williams (in fity, and forthcoming) convine-
ingly identifies these types as stirup mounts. He
suggests that the Weston mount represents a basic
but wncommon design, belonging o a sub-group
which typically consists of a fat pentagonal plate
clasped by twe tendril-like shapes which converge
to f marrow neck erminating in a fixing loop. Metal
detector find from stone layer (Pirockway ), contexi
018, within Ficld B, (8F 101 1) (Figure 13, 1),

Strap End 61mm = | 5mm x 1mm. Flat, pbraded copper
alloy strap end; the remains of two iron rivets sur-
vive at the aphit end, one now reduced 1o an aren of
COITOSI0N,

M Farley comments; Strap ends of this date useally
contuin three standurdised elements: an animal
sooul terminal, o decorative panel and o fan-shaped
device around the rivet end, On this example the

fan-shaped device appears (o be absent, alilhough
the presence of ron corresion may obscure il The
animal snoul i present in sionplilied foeem, aad the
central decomtive element is missing from the now
empty, rectangulor central recess. The recess had
been prepared by roughly chiselling out a depreséed
area; no mean feat in g piece of sheet only one
mllimetre thick, Duaring conservation, eleciro-
chemical means were used o break down the corro-
sion within the recess, revealing chisel lines and the
remmins of a white metal coating, most probably
solder. Organic material was nlso idemified during
conservation within the split end, adhering 1o the
comosion (information kindly supplied by David
Parish). This probably represents the remains of an
eriginal leather strap. Apant from the use ol apanel,
which is unigque amongsi the twenty other Bucking-
hamshire strap ends so far recorded, the whole (s a
fairly unsophisticated picce: Such g cnds appear
1o have been common in the ninth cenwry AL, but
had o longer lite, The relwtively large size and
simplicity of the surviving motils suggest that the
Weston Underwood tag end may be relatively lae
in the series. Found by metal detector, apparently
withina pit along pipetine route, Field C. (SF 1018),
Figure 13, 2.

Mot illustrated,

Quernstone Fragments 30mm = 20mm; 20mm =
15mm. Twe. small square-shaped joining pieces of
basalt lava quernstone from the Eiffel mountains in
Germany, with traces of a grinding surface, Thirty-
eight sherds of Suxon poltery were recovered rom
the same context as the guemstone; such lava wos
imported into Britain during Anglo-Saxon limes in
large quantities. From context 029 (fill of pit (K28),
Ficld B. (5F 1039),

Anller Seven fragments of red deer antler were found
within a context which alse contained a substantial
mumber of both Saxon and medieval anefacis (SF
12y,

Medieval

Hlustrared

Buckle 4imm = Mamm, Oval copper-alloy buckle frime
with rectangular pnd decormted recessed sheet plane.
The inside edge of the buckle (rame possesses
szl notch to receive the pin, The pin, looped over
an offset and narrowed buckle bar, tapers 1o a point.
The front sheet of the folded plate is decorated with
o lime of tiny, stamped nicks which horder the sides
ond edges, The rear sheet is partially bent back over
itsell, the two end rivers now missing. Theee rivels
are still in place, howewver, securely fixing the (wa
sheets together. Surface enrichment is responsible
for a superficial impression ol remnant grlding, The
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Fig. 13: Saxon and Medieval finds, scale 2:3

whole appears 1o hive been covered with a white
metal coating, possibly silver; Xermy fluorescence
analysis would be necded to identify the specific
mielal conclusively,

This buckle and plate represent a basic form which,
withall isvariety, was o long-lasting fashion and in
use from the early fourteenth to early fifteenth cen-
tury (Egan and Pritchard, 1991, 22). One, two or
four Avets are most common, and pairs would have
been more elfective for distributing the stress than
arrangements in which a single rivel ook most of
the strain a1 a central point, This example possesses
five rivets, and although its precise wse is uncertain,
its refative robustness suggests that it was imtended
tor serve o funetion which involved some stress or
sustained movement — as perhaps a spur buckle or
part of some military dress. Metal detector find

decorated, the detil partially obscuned by the
twisted copper wire repair. The whole appears 1o
have been covered with & white metal coating, prob-
ably either silver or tin,

The single rivel suggests that the buckle was not
intended to serve a particularly stressful function

originally, and its form implies that it was osed (o

secire some ilem ol everyday medieval dress.
Buckie plates provided a means of attaching the
frame 1o the strap that was arguably more secure in
the long term than lalding the leather or textile
arcund the frame and sewing the strap ogether 1o
hold it in place, as was done with the plain, circular
frames —which were usunlly imended ax shoe buck-
les. Metal detecor lind, from subsoil, context 475,
Field D, (5F 10135) Fig 13,

from subsoil, context 475, Field D, (SF 1014), Fig  Metillustrated
13, 4, Knife Blade 7omm = 16mm ® dmm, A severely cor-

Buckle 30 » 20mm. Round, flat copper-atloy buckle roded fragment of ironwork; most of the blade and

TR tdd. much of the tang are missing. The knife appears tln
Eracne il thie gt tainaing, Alranied i s decoedet belong to the “whittle and tang™ type and is medi-

eval. Context 434 (fill of pit 433), Field D, in close
assoctation with séveral sherds of medieval pottery.
(SF 1013)

rectangular folded sheet plate, recessed to accom-
madate (most probably ) an originally sub-rounded.
oval or D-shaped frame, The single perforation
through the plite shows clear evidence that the
buckle has been repaired, with the originel rivel
missing, and a twisted length of copper alloy wire
now crudely fastening the two sheets of the buckle
plate together, The front, forked end of the plate is
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Coin Long Cross penny of Edward 1{ 1272-1307); poor,

worn, Metal detector find, from subsoil. coniext
117, Field C., (SF 1007).



Cain Long Cross halfpeany of Edward 1 (1272-1307;.
Very worn., Metal detector find, from subsoil, con-
lext 475, Field D, (SF 1016),

Post-medieval

Only three picces of tile were recovered [rom
the investigations and seventeen fragmenis (0,795
kg) of brick, including & single, complete Tudor
brick. Sixteen clay pipe stems and four bowl frag-
ments were found, all probably eighteenth cenury.
The small amount of glass recovered all appears to
date (0 the cighteenth/nineteenth century, A
number of relatively modern or insignificant, unda-
table pieces of ironwork were recovered by metal
detector along the route: several iron nails, corro-
sion conglomerates, unidentifiable lumps of lead
and copper alloy, together with post-medieval bui-
tons, buckles, knife blades, lead shot and window
came. lems recorded as special finds include an
iron dress pin with double-looped head (perhaps
sixteenth century, of Woodfield and Goadall, 1981,
94 and Fig.5): a “Nuremberg jeton™, probably Hans
Krauwinckel, ¢ 1580-1620; a worn penny of Eliza-
beth 1, and a rectangular whetstone with square
section,

CONCLUSIONS

A project of this nature inevitably yields data
which is difficult to interpret. Scanning ol rela-
tively narrow trenches will rarely reveal the full
extent of features, or show the relationship of fea-
tures 1o their neighbours, Spatial patterning can not
be seen on any scale which is useful, and interpre-
Lition of features 15 inevitably o problem. There are
therefore many guestions concerning the date and
significance of the features described in this ac-
count which can not be readily answered. Rela-
tively little attention has been paid in this report to
those features which were either not excavated (as
they did not lic on the direct line of the pipe cut), or
which failed 1o produce dating evidence. Neverthe-
less, the archaeological monitoring and investiga-
tion of the Weston Underwood Sewerage Scheme
has yielded useful results. Previous finds of mate-
rial from the village and its environs had all been
casual discoveries, lacking much in the way of an
archacological contexi.

There was a general paucity of prehistoric mate-
rial. Apart from the cremation, a seatter of struck

fMints and two Iron Age sherds were the only pre-
Roman material discovered, The cremation, al-
though not accurately dated, seems to indicate
prehistoric funerary rites other than those associ-
ated with barrows/ ring ditches, and which feature
so prominently in the archacological record of the
Ouse valley. The relative absence of lron Age ma-
lerial seems to imply that the Roman settlement, for
which there was ruther more in the way of evi-
dence, did not develop, as on many sites it did,
from a pre-Roman settlement. However, it should
be noted that finds associated with two adjacent
sites 1o the south of the village include an lron Age
compaonent.

There was rather more evidence for Roman ae-
tivity, although this period, too, was relatively
sparsely represented. No settlement focus was
found, but the overall impression is of cither g
single extensive site not far from the study area, or
of a densely settled landscape, although the two
need not be mutually exclusive. The discovery in
1968 of a dozen Romano-British sherds, together
with tile and building stone, a shont distance south
of the pipeline in Field C may point to a structure. It
is also possible that the flood plain had a more
prominent role in the economy during the late Iron
Age and Roman periods than previously, as dem-
onstrated by the Stanton Low villa, situated on the
edge of the terrace gravels a fow kilometres up-
stream at Stantonbury, which exploited the allu-
vium (Woodfield and Johnson 1989), Stanton Low
was an extensive site, at over 3 ha nearly the size of
a "small town™, with wharves on the river frontage,
and close set parallel ditches in the early Roman
phases probably indicating land management and
drainage. It is perhaps worth noting that one of the
areas of Romano-British activity identified at
Weston Underwood was on the part of the study
area closest to the flood plain, which possibly sug-
pests a comparable interest in the lower-lying ar-
eis.

Saxon settlement, as with the Romano-British
settlement, cannot be tied down to a specific focal
poini, but sufficient pottery was recovered from the
line of the sewers 1o show that there was some form
of occupation here during both the early (fifth to
seventh centuries ) and late Saxon periods (ie ninth
century or later). There may also have been mid
Saxon occupation as well, but its identilication is
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extremely problematical owing o the general ab-
sence in this region of pottery which is diagnostic
of the period. There is also the possibility of a post-
built rectilinear timber structure in area C1, al-
though it must be stressed that there is no firm
dating evidence, and the Saxon date s proposed
solely on the busis of the similarity ol the struc-
tare s form with the plans of Saxon halls excavated
al numerous other sites in southern England. The
Saxon evidence is potentially the most important 1o
have been recovercd during the project. There is
often discontinuity of occupation during the Saxon
period, with significant changes of settlement pat-
terns hetween the early and the late Saxon periods;
this certainly appears to be the case at many of the
settlements within the area of Milton Keynes, only
a few kilometres ta the south, which has been
studied in some detil (Croft and Mynard 1993,
150 only in two instances, Bradwell and Greal
Linford, has carly to middle Saxon pottery been
found within the present village® At Weston
Underwood the evidence seems to imply continuity
of settlement within the general area, as opposed 1o
it hiatus.

Recovery of (unsteatified) late Saxon material
from near the boundary between ficlds A and B,
not far from the church, hints at n possible occupa-
tion focus in existence prior o the Norman Con-
guest, and i is quite possible that the Tirst church on
the present site, originating perhaps as a propri-
ctary church, was another element of a small, nu-
cleated settlement.

The processes by which a dispersed pattern of
farmstcads coalesced inlo nucleated seitlements is
still imperfecily undersiood. In the case of Wesion
Underwood we may suspect that this process was
well advanced by the twelfth century, by which
time the present chureh was certainly in existence;
the dating of the moated she is less cerlain, al-
though the Pevers chiel messuage {presumably on
the moated site) was first documented in 1315 and
may well be earlier. Tt hag recently been noted
{Lewis and Fox 1993) that within Buckingham-
shire there are a number of nucleated settlements in
the lower lying clay vales of the Quse and Thames
where moat and church are adjacent, supgesting a
church-manor complex forming the focal point of
settlement. Whilst the Weston Underwood moat is

"B see Millon Keynes Village: this volame

230m I'rom the chureh, neither site is Far from the
area of pre-Conguest occupation which we propose
above.

There have however been some changes in the
villuge morphology since the middie ages, Apirl
from the moated site, abandoned presumably at
some point during the late medieval or early post
medieval period, there are traces of several possi-
ble building plutforms  mmediately east of the
present village in leld D The present work has
shown at least one of these platforms 1o be the site
of a building, although its dating was equivocal,
Traces were also discovered of a ditched enclosure
in freld C, with i post-built structure within it; here
too the dating evidence is very difficult o interpret,
These remains apparently point 1o some degree of
sellement shift or small-scale shrinkage, before the
village reached its present morphology during or
befare the sevenieenth century.

Archive

The site archive is 1o be found ot Buckingham-
shire County Museum (ref CAS 6166),
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APPENDIX:

The Union Chapel in Chapel Lane

The eponymous establishment in Chapel Lane
was presumiably the Union (ie independent dissent-
ing) Chapel recorded in the 1851 religious census
(Legg 1991 ), The chapel was buill, according to the
census, in 1827, but its location is not given, There
is no reference 1o any pluce of worship at Weston
Underwond, other than the Parish church and the
Catholic church, in any of several nineteenth and
carly twentieth county directories consulted, the

cuarliest dating to c1830. The census shows the
presence of a strong Catholic congregation in the
village (due 1 the rmecusancy of the
Throckmortons, who had held the manor since the
fifteenth century), and the majority of the inhabit-
ants attended the services of the Cathalics or the
Established church. The Catholic church was situ-
ated near the northern end of the village, in what
had been the stable wing of the manor house, which
wits demolished in 1827 (Lipscombe 1847, 4, 402-
404). The Catholic church was buill in the same
year, and since 1827 is also given for the construc-
tion of the Union Chapel the possibility of confu-
sion between the two cannot be ruled out. Dissent
evidently came late to Weston Underwood, since
there was only one dissenter (described as a Pres-
byterian) in 1706 and two in 1709 (Broad 1993).
Average attendance at the Union chapel's weekly
service was thiny. It is possible thal the attractions
of dissenting worship were relatively short-lived,
and that the chapel was not in use for long, Given
the evidently feeble strength of the cause, it is quite
possible that the chapel was an adapted building
rither than o purpose-built structure.
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